


From: Na Belle <Belle.Na@doj.state.or.us> 
Sent: Friday, February 2, 2024 12:00 PM
To: DEFILLIPO Jay * ODVA <Jay.DEFILLIPO@odva.oregon.gov>
Cc: Gramp Lisa M <Lisa.M.Gramp@doj.state.or.us>; Cunningham Melisse S <melisse.s.cunningham@doj.state.or.us>; Preston Katherine L <Katherine.L.Preston@doj.state.or.us>; Romero Mirna M <mirna.m.romero@doj.state.or.us>; Keen Rochelle M <Rochelle.M.Keen@doj.state.or.us>
Subject: RE: DOJ review of proposed rulemaking for ODVA.

	
	You don't often get email from belle.na@doj.state.or.us. Learn why this is important
	


Dear Jay:

You asked whether the Oregon Department of Veterans’ Affairs (“ODVA”) can adopt rules concerning House Bill 2147 (2023) (“HB 2147”).  The short answer is that there is no clear statutory authority allowing ODVA to interpret HB 2147 by rule. That said, ODVA has clear authority to provide training and to certify veterans’ remains coordinators and may provide such training consistent with HB 2147 as part of that training and certification process.

“An agency is a creature of statute, and the scope of its substantive power is set forth in and circumscribed by its enabling statute.”  PNW Metal Recycling Inc. v. DEQ, 371 Or 673, 676 (2023) (citations omitted).  See also SAIF v. Shipley, 326 Or 557, 561 (1998) (“[A]n agency has only those powers that the legislature grants and cannot exercise authority that it does not have.”).  The enabling statute will specify whether the agency has rulemaking authority and will set out the agency’s tasks, the scope of its discretion to carry out these tasks, and the process by which these tasks are to be accomplished.  Trebesch v. Employment Div., 300 Or 264, 267 (1985).

HB 2147 concerns the handling of unclaimed cremated veterans’ remains.  Section 3 directs each county’s governing body to designate a veterans’ remains coordinator to identify unclaimed cremated veterans’ remains, establish their eligibility to be buried at a national cemetery administered by the U.S. Department of Veterans’ Affairs, and ensure that these remains are buried at a U.S. Department of Veterans’ Affairs administered national cemetery.  Section 3 also requires the veterans’ remains coordinator to consult with the county veterans’ service officer, the U.S. Department of Veterans’ Affairs, a national cemetery administered by the U.S. Department of Veterans’ Affairs, the U.S. Social Security Administration or another entity.  Sections 4 and 6 require the veterans’ remains coordinator to report certain information regarding the veterans’ remains to the county veterans’ service officer and the U.S. Department of Veterans’ Affairs.

ODVA has proposed rules in connection with HB 2147.  However, HB 2147 makes no explicit reference to ODVA; HB 2147 only mentions the county’s governing body, the county veterans’ service officer, the county veterans’ remains coordinator, and federal agencies.  Although HB 2147 relates to veterans’ remains, there appears to be nothing in its plain text that directly concerns ODVA.  And there appears to be no other statute clearly authorizing ODVA to promulgate rules for HB 2147.

I understand that, in support of HB 2147, ODVA testified before the legislature that it would provide veterans’ remains coordinators training on how to handle unclaimed cremated veterans’ remains.  ODVA has clear authority to provide such training and to certify individuals providing services to veterans.  See ORS 406.452; OAR 274-031-0001 et seq.  ODVA therefore may provide this training as part of its certification process pursuant to ORS 406.452 and OAR 274-031-0001 et seq.  (Please note that the training needs to be consistent with HB 2147.)  However, if ODVA wants to promulgate rules on the handling of unclaimed cremated veterans’ remains, we recommend that ODVA seek to amend HB 2147 or gain other legislative authority that clearly authorizes ODVA to do this.   

If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact me.  Thank you.

Belle Na
Assistant Attorney General
503-798-6150 (cell)

